od for nearly a year in addf’!shg petitions to the
(Jo%xar% of Dxrector]z and the Board of Contml.'.‘ opies of -
these petitions must of course have been
furnished to the Governor-General for his mformw S
The agents also write to the Ranees on the 10th Oakobq
1835, “that being desired by the home aut.hontm
transmit what they, have to say th proper
channel, they have already forward m tions
through the Commissioner o Nagpore to Lord ie.t
What the coutents of these petitigns were we learn from
Mr. Ludlow, who had seen them at the office of the Ind!a; B
Reform Scciety. In the first of these, dated the 18th
April, 1855, it'is asserted that * the late Prince had long'
intended to adopt one of his near kinsmen, by name
Yeshwunt Rao Aﬁer Rao,” —otherwise called Appa Sahib,
and now Janojee Bhonsla. It is asserted that “imme-
diately on the Maharajah’s decease the Maharanees made
known their lord’'s wishes to Mr. Mansel, the Resident,
and that gentleman assured the Maharanees that he would
meke known their wishes to the Governor-General for the
aforesaid Yeshwunt Rao being placed on the throne.”
And, as we have seen, this is exactly what Mr. Mansel
did.¥ It is said that the ladies, satisfied with this assu-
rance, “ were content to postpone the completion of smh
ceremony,” and ““ with the concurrence of the Resident
allowed Yeshwunt Rao Aher Rao to perform the necemry
funeral solemnities.”§
Sir Charles JacLson ‘esses his belief that the RM l.
did not adopt Appa Sasnb until “after the decision o
(mvemment in favour of a.nnexatmn, and that they ther
“ antedated his adoption.”| If it were so, Jano‘]eom
right to the succession under the Treaty, as
and successor” of the Rajah would not be
Neither HlNlOO law, nor the customs and
the Bhonsla family, preseribe any limited
option ml\d not




»¢ said would be that the Ranees having waited a reason-
ble time, under the instructions of the British Resident,
for the initiative to be taken by the Protecting Power,
~adopted the Rajab’s natural and intended heir, when
the bad intentions of the Protecting Power could be no
longer mistaken.

In the book which Sir Charles Jackson has quoted, 1
~ related the story of the Bhounsla's ancestral estates,—situ-
- ated beyond the limits of the Nagpore territory, — their

hasty sequestration on the Rajah’s death, their mﬂvsequent
restoration to the widow, and their ultimate assignment

to the adopted son.

““The estates remained in the widow’s possession until 1860,
when Lord Canning having, as a partial aud very imperfect re-
paration to the Bhonslas, re cognmd Janojee Bhonsla as the head
of the family, the lands were transferred to him, with the rem-
nants of the private moveable property that had escaped Lord
Dalhousie’s auctions.”™*

Sir Charles Jd(Lwn alluding obseurely to this trans-
action, says :—* The report of the Resident. who was in
comumunication with the Ranees after the Rajalh’s death,
and a petition of the Banka Baee's, were conelusive, and
Lopd Canning refused to acknowledge Appa Sahib as the

e adopted son of the Rajal”t This point was met and
: treated hv me, but Sir Charles Jackson makes no
. reference to the following remarks,

“In the notification of }nw. title of Rajah Bahadur of Deoor, in
the Caleutta Gazette, Lord Canning, certamly with no intention
. of ipsult, described the grandnephew and adopted som of our

- faithful Ally as ¢ the adopted son of the widow of the late Ruler
of Nagpore,” an impossible relationship according to the Hindoo
law, a solecism in legal phraseology, and colloquially in India a
~contemptuous snd ofiensive designation.; Of course the object
' was to avoid the appearance of acknowledgmg Janojee Bhonsla’s
W heirship to the late Rajah. But the evasion is as ineffectual
the mode of exprenswn was ungracious. The Govemmnt

mu'iglbn.-w‘"ﬁ«.mb ﬂunp ﬂ'uhim arch



having mwimdaﬂng “h

famil p
e?titgé, it was useless to call him ‘the w\dow’l m’ wﬁth i s

meible father. If he be correctly described as ¢ the » adopted so
2} the widow of the late Ruler of Nagpore,” then he is the son
the late Ruler also, unless we are to assail the honour of this la
and that without any great refinement or sabtlety of .nnmon.'
the Hindoo law the ceremony of adoption severs the relation
between Janojee and his ‘ natural father,” the widow’s late h&s
band taking the place of the latter. An unmarried woman can-

not adopt a gon, nor can any woman but a widow ; and the chil d S
is not adopted to remove the reproach ef barrenness from het(. out
its spmtuul evils from her deceased husband. Vasishtha pams
¢ A son given is the child not of lus adoptive pother, but of h
adoptive father.” (Colebrooke’s Digest, vol. iii, p. 254.) The
adopted son of the Rajah’s widow is, by Hindoo law, either the
Rajul’s son and heir, or else he represents the most degrading
species of illegitimacy, which would completely disquahfy lum
from sncceeding to the family estates, and which most 3
Lord Canning never intended to impute to Rajah Janojee Bhonah.
There stands the dilemma, quite unassailable by any weapon in
the Calcutta Foreign Office, or in any store-house of Hindoo law ;
and there it will remain—a moral, legal and political dox—
until, as I hope, obliterated for ever by a royal restitution.*

L

* Empire in India, p. 225, 226, {..
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| CHAPTER V.
i OUDE.

Tae Duke of Argvll “having been a member of the
Cabinet which decxded on the Annexation of Oude, and
decided, too, not only on the doing of it, but substantially
on the manner in which it shall be done,” expresses
astonishment at “the ignorant injustice with which, on
account of this transaction, the memory of Lord Dalhousle
- has been assailed.”* He complains of that * popular im-
presslon which ascribes the annexation of Oude to the
special policy of Lord Dalhousie,” who, according to him,
“not only deprecated annexation, but deprecated even
the direct or forcible assumption of the Government of
Oude.™t

Sir Charles Jackson in the same manner declares that
“ Lord Da,lhousie’s advice with respect to Oude was not
followed ;” that “he is not, in fiwt., responsible for  the
annexatxon of that Provlm.c, that “ic was, in fact,
% the annexation of Oude 7 and * that his part
i e transaction was the last sacrifice which he made on
e ﬁw altar of duty.”§

" Bo lately as the 28th of December, 1867, an article in
5& the Spectator, on ““ the Lucknow Durbar,” written, i 1
am not much mistaken, by a former Editor of the Cal
- Friend of India, asserts that the Cabinet of wluch Lord

Oulmng was a member, ““decided “%n‘;,(f
m,seqnesx,ra,tz ide, and carrying
out_the annexation ;" and that “Lordw

g
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Cabinet, having come :
overrule t‘hm I usie,
Lord Dalhousie is represented as aeting in ti :
under orders which he loyally and submissively carried
out, against his own expressed opinion. This is a v
inadequate and inaccurate representation of what vez
occurred.  The Cabinet and the Court of Directors, wi
were_certainly not “unanimous,” did 7ot * overrule Lord
Dalhousie’s advice,” nor “ override his proposal.” He was
left at full liberty to carry out his own ;;:é‘lect, if he chose.
Lord Dalbousie’s repugnance to the absolute annexation
of Oude, and to the immediate and forcible assumption of
its Government,—a repugnance which he managed to
overcome,—was directed merely ;\:gainst certain forms and
phrases, and cannot relieve him of the least responsibility
for a measure which he prompted and brought to pass, -
and which is justly ascribed to his *“ special policy.” A
The difference of opinion between Lord Dalhousie and
his Councillors can be very briefly deseribed. Down to %
the despatch from the Governor-General to the Court of
Directors, dated the 22nd August, 1855, the only plan
for the reform of Oude which had been recommended in
India and approved by the Home authorities, was that of
teaporary ment, with_a view to the ultimate re-
storation of y native rule.t During Lord Dalhousie’s
tenure of office the ideas of the Supreme Couneil under-
went a complete change. In 1855,—Sattara, Jhansi, and
Nugpore having been annexed, the mediatised Principaliti
of Tanjore and the Carnatic having been extinguished
the Governor-General and his advisers unanimonsly
that the evils of Oude were incurable by any other
than the permanent assumption by the British
went of the entire administration of that country.
differed only as ble process.for
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§ mtﬂement proposed, that a new treaty should be sub-

o

mitted for the King of Oude’s acceptance. vesting all
administrative powers in the hands of the British I%gﬁ.

ment, reserving a_certain income for the royal family ; and
that 1n the event of the King's refusal to consent to these

| terms, the former Treaties should be declared at an_end.

and the territories of Oude at once forcibly incorporated
with the doninions of the Honourable Company.

The Governor-General desired to take a less direct
course, one that would be “more in conformity to inter-
national law.”—as he understood it.—and ** therefore, less
liable to eriticism or cavil, and less open to the attack of
those who miglit be expected to condemn and oppose the
measure. ¥ m?ie recormmended that a Treaty such as was
proposed by his colleagues, should be placed before the
King : that if he rejected it.-pe coercive steps should be
taken, but all relations with the Court of Omlie should-be
broken off. the Resident and troops be withdrawn from Luck-
now, the Treaties proclaimed to gd.
protection_to have ceased. He believed that the King
would shrink from the consequences of being left face to
face with his turbulent vassals and subjects; but that if
he resolved on braving them, the capital would be %
wgthin a month, and the King, *“ to save himself, wo

1o agree to whatever engagements might be offered
bim by the British Govermment.”t

Lord Dalhousie, in advising the withdrawal of British
protection, had his eye on another possible solution of the
problem. Although the King might choose to trust to

is own resources, and might even succeed in maintaining

\f vaxiance in their pleadings and in the details of the

null and void and British

his personal saféty amid scenes of anarchy and confusion,




e o% W

‘-ﬁxﬂ ke pronounces also. that “the vanesi
muqt.;»drmtotn’nghttodoxrh&tlordD&ﬂ: sie
mended, — which was aunp]y ta_mﬂﬂmw our tro
dE‘CI ring. the L8 01 () an end. 4
induced to recommend thm, bemuse he thmxght he
would be the-same.”t '

From Lord Dalhousie’s la.ngmge it wnight be
posed that the principles of action for which he
Mr. J. P. Grant respectivel cont.ended were
irreconcileable.  “ So entirely,” he writes, “ did "
from the view taken by my honourable colleague, and
erroneous did it seem to me, that if unfortunately it h
found favour with the Honourable Court, I must have
declined to take part in the establishment or enforcement
of any policy which might have been founded upon lb."*‘ =
Yet after a few phs he adds:—“1 have never
affected to wnmnwcuon that this measure”—his
own plan of withdra our protection,— would lead
precisely the same result as the more | iptory cours
avised by othgrs, but with some. interven

Thus the formal moderation of the
by Lord Dalhousie, and contrasted by hi
necessarily harsh” measures of the Cotmdﬂom,[}
to nothing more than the polite invitation addres
thle liudlzhxgy to the barn-door fowls, when he aske
whether would pmfarbangboﬂoder ‘
imly dispute between the Governor-General




solved to forego my own preferences, :
h Oude, to adopt the more - ptory course |
" been advocated by my co es, and whmh was
'mmfest]v maore acce table to the Honourable Court.”*
~ The Duke of Argyll's comment on this passage is remark-
ﬁa‘bly just :—* Without prolonging controversy on points
e czp]e. but protesting against the doctrine laid down
B {12 . Grant, ke yet agreed to a course which was loqwall
£ femnble on no other pri ‘neiple than that which Mr. Grant
maintained.”t
The Duke of Argyll says:—*It is a curious fact that
Lord Dalhousie alone had scruples even in respect to any
- forcible seizure of the Government.”t The result shows
what those scruples were worth. His own words prove
that his real anxiety was to avert “ criticism and cavil,’
“and * the attacks of these who might be expected to_con-
demn and oppose the measure.”§ He objected to a line
of political action which was likely to createy a. ﬁnﬂ
opposition, and to call forth severer comment.”|| he
wanted was a plausible pretext for “ the forcible seizure”
. of Oude. In order to obtain such a plausible pretext as
- be thought would suffice, he did not scruple. to advise
‘ the withdrawal of that protection which was p;?nmexi.to
he Kings of Oude by a series of treaties, and for which
: “paid such a price,” as General Low said, “as
m_,_m};er natave ruler ever did."¥] 1 may be more be-
nighted than the “ veriest formalist” despised by the Duke
of Argyll, but this policy seems to me to have been detest-
able. Lord Dalhousie did not scruple to recommend a
course which, acoo to his own expectations, would
0. s oo te_insurrection, would have en-
_ megs Eﬂ:nnd would have given
c lage.** Then, wilen




‘That LmdDthowehadm Iesandmmngmgg_
the annexation of Oude, and as to several other a
ations, cannot be doubted. That he so easily ove
those scruples, and smothered those mi 8, 1
great opprobnum as a statesman. Sir :
says —“ He always entertained a great distaste
Hlleebt I remember a conversation with him in 1
in which he stated he had been pressed to take the
conntry (by whom he did not say), and that he felt averse
to such a measure. I cannot trust m memorz to state-
the precise nature of his ohjections at that time.”t
Sir Charles Jackson erroneously states,—and the same
strange mistake is made by the other apologlsfs —that
Lmd Dalhousie’s scheme of withdrawal from Oude, was
“ disallowed,”} and that he was “ obliged to abandon™!
by the Court of Directors’ despatch of the 21st Novem
1855. It was not so. In this despatch,-—cha.ractensedﬁ’ &
Sir Charles Jackson as “a specimen of the art of wn:m
nnpurtant instructions so as to avoid responsibility,”|| and
by the Duke as “nominally from the Court of
really from the Ministers of the Crown,”{[—some a
hension was indicated that the scheme tmght fail, but the
Directors declined to *“express any opinion on the -
ciples laid down by the several Members of Couneil,” ant
authorised the Governor-General to ““carry out his
mgoesmon,” if he “should feel warranted in,
hwmm_ ne n-y.:s»\ Of §
government _of Oude; but they left
detaﬂtothemsdomofbheGov ‘
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s plan to have “an'aﬂvwhlge over the
s as it “included the th as a consenting party
the measure,” and was ““ intended to show more tender-
ness to the feclings of a family, who, whatever may have
"heen their offences towards their own su Jects have not
- been unfaithful to the British Govemment ,
After the exposition already given of the true nature and
object of this measure, I need hardly say that I can see no

‘‘‘‘‘

. traces of any such tenderness. Indeed, since under the
* more “ harsh” and “ pegempto 3 ’ course that was actually

. pursued, the King was o the option of signing a
ir—»‘ reaty. if he chose, and thus becoming “a consen
wepialty,” there was rcally no distinction between the two
measures,
Lord Dalhousie’s so-called scruples,—really more un-
- serupulous than the open violence ultimately adopted,—
. receive the severest condemnation from the Duke of
Ax&vll. in spxte of himself, when he terms the ?la.n of
drawal ““an indirect measure of compulsion; { and
when he says that ““Lord Dalhousie probably overstated
kis own opinion.” in saying that **it would not be right to
- endeavour to extract” “the King's ““ consent by means of
“menace or compulsion.”} Lord Dalhousie certainly over-
stnt.ed his own opinion ; his whole plan of action was based
. e menace_and ¢ oompu]mon under the flimsiest dmgmqe;
-+ even this disguise was to be thrown off, if he coul
i ‘wke y‘dn? like a plausible pretext for forcible inter-
: and it was thrown off as soon as he had secured
the support of the Cabinet and the Board of Directors.
These scruples never operated beyond the walls of the
Couneil chamber ; Pmdpem uced nothing but a few incon-
mbmtmd oontmdmto hs ; and avowedly aimed
e cntunsm. Yet on




planned the mnmhm ~
“though with some intervening dela . *is
two main expedients in the process ongma.ﬂyd
him, to both of which he ered throt
of these was the i
the inheritance to the lineal male desce
reigning King, * bara_in lawful wedlock,”t—a re
hitherto unheard of, and unwarranted by Mahom
Jaw. This novel restriction was (Lehbegggely intro
by Lord Dalhousie. “It will be seen,” he writes,  tha
the succession was limited to the children Born in 18 _
wedlock, aI(lld. ma&.not&teua : lnded to collla;lteml.hews. o 1
thus excluding collateral heirs, many liv persons ¢
their oﬁ’sprm gwthe King’s brotheryand d dants
of former Sovereigns,—were cut out of the line of sw
sion, and the probabilities of what would be called *
]l])be, when merely the title and a stipend were
mnultiplied enormously.
The second expedxent was the repudiation. of the 1
of 1837,—a Treaty regularly concluded and
brought into operation, never call i
Lord Dalbousie’s time, and actuall
Treaty in 1847 by his immediate p
dinge, who threatened the King of Oude
sions should be enforced.

Full powers of mmgﬁment and reform were g |
the Treaty of 1837. But when the assum o o

Government of Oude began to be a
question in 1854, it was i
(:eneml that two Artaclea
PI‘OVI & 10 2 R
for the ntermed "
the Tre




of Argyll says:—“It is not true that we

derived advantage from the non-ratification of the Treaty
of 1837. On the contrary, Lord Dalhousie would have
yeen delighted to proceed under it, if it had been in force. *
It gave him all he wanted,—a right to seize the govern-
ment. The King, however, was offered a better position
_than that Treaty would have secured to him.”*  All this
. is very erroneous. The Treaty of 1837 did not give Lord
 Dalhousie “all he wanted.” It did not give him- the.suz-
%hs revenues of Oude, to be disposed of, as he pleased,
 for Imperial purposes, but compelled him to account for
them to the State of Oude. It did, indeed, give him “a
. right to seize the government,” but only for.a temporary
“* ohject, and bound Lim ¢ to .maintain the native institu-
ik ﬂﬁl‘ﬁ’s and forms, of administration, so as to facilitate the
~ restoration of those territories to the Sovereign of Oude.”t
Lord Dalhousie would certainly not ““have been delighted
to proceed” under those conditions.
e King was not “ offered a better position than that
Treaty would have secured to him.” He was offered a
. fixed stipend, and an_empty title, hampered as an inherit-
. ance by novel restrictions, with no prospect for him or his
- descendants, of reinstatement in the functions of royalty.
Lord Dalbousie’s plea for not assuming the management
unger the Treaty of 1837, was that the Treaty had been
“ cancelled” by the Home Authorities. The fact is, that -
- the Secret Committee of the Court of Directors disapproved
of the increased burden of providing an Auxiliar PF.CE‘QE’
im upon Oude by the new Treaty, and desired that
the King should be “ exonerated from these obligations.”
But they added in their despatch to Lord Auckland,—
“ Although we thus convey to you our directions for the
abrogation of the Treaty, we leave it discretional with
Lordship to adapt your measures to the staie of cip-
ces as may be found to exist when you receive this
;' and they recommend that the communication to
King,should}ibe‘madg, “as an act of grace from your

ence. o
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ouncil, dwrefore, 8 autkansed' to m, ﬁe- .
discretion as to the mode of carrying our wishes into
in respect to the Treaty; but’—here is the _impo:
point,— the order of the Court of Directors is pos
and strictly to be i__[orced to discontinug the preparati
which may have been made for the organisation of
Auziliary Force”® Their only positive objection, th
only strict order, was directed against the new Force:in
posed as a burden on the Finances of Oude. But 1
used the word ““ gbrogation;” and Lord Dal}musxe
upon that.

Lord Auckland, with the advice of lus Counc]ﬂom,
General Morrison and Mr. Robertson, decided on 1 %:
signifying to the King of Oude that he was relieved ; ey
the military expenses mposed gt.he,Tr_eaty of 1837;and
dney came to this decision on the express grounds of the
difficulty under the Treaty of 1801 “of enforcing its con-
ditions,” of the “solemn, recorded, and effectual wi S
contained” in the new Tleaty of 1837, and of the power
obtained by it to ¢ assume the administration as a remed?.
for gross misrule.”t The last words of Lord Auckland’s
Minute of the 2nd of May, 1839, the last that he pennevi‘i "
before addressing the King on the subject, contain an
expression of his entire agreement in the opinion of His
colleague Mr. Robertson, that «if the independence of
Oude endure much longer it will be mainly in conse
of this very provision, ”—for the assumption of the
tration I case of msrule.”:t The Government of -
in 1839, did not consider or intend the new Trea‘ky
dnnuilled but simply, as they told the King, tha
Articles imposing a pecuniary charge upon him wo
be any longer enforced, that he would have
more for the military force which, in Lord




on of Oude saxd t&mt pl@gg 1 )
on.of the. Txmty.wez:egw g Mes
not to what Lord Dalhousie, or Lord Auckla.mi,

he is quoting, can allude. except to the conversa-
“tion that took place in the House of eEords on_the 6th of
- Angust, 1838, in the course of which i
“ Lord Ellenborough said that to assert that there was mo
Treaty in existence because it had not been ratified at home, was

© not a correct representatipn of the fact. The Treaty wm.mtlﬁeﬂ

by the Goyernor-General, and certainly might be acted op.”
2 “ The Marquis of Lansdowne said that he had now distinctly
. to state that not only did his noble friend at the head of the
. Government of fndia, immediately on being informed of this
M"I'renty, ‘express kis disapprobation of the manner in which the,
promise had been drawn from the Sovereign of Oude, but he also’
caased it to be intimated in the most explicit manner to that .
Prince, that he was in no degree bound by the promise to sign
such a Treaty, and entipely relieved from any stipulations or con-
ditions it imposed.”+

Whether Lord Lansdowne’s statement constituted a
“pledge” or not, matters very little ; for it was founded
~on an error.  No_such intimation had then been made, or
was ever made, to the Sovere%of Oude, as Lord Lans-
dﬁne supposed. The noble Lord at tﬁe head of the
ﬂgvemmant of India, Lord Auckland, did indeed express

probatwn of the « superﬂuous promise
from K-m% 4 but he did not disapproye of
# 1t was entlre

has own i1dea and his own work‘

.‘I_ecj’?@ for the_mmw Lt
g was not told “in the most ex ﬁa{; mn:




his view of the
was not, and cou.
in 1838, or

f Lo
The Treaty of 1837 was officially ublmbed in a v
u,f Treaties, by authority of the Court of Dlrwtm's ;
and repnn a8 a return to the House of in
There is a note appended to the Treaty of 1837m'
printed Volume, which tells us what was tho ht of
Treaty at the Indm House so late as M§

Tt is as follows :—

“ The Home Goyernment disapproved of that M‘ of the T m&
which imposed_on. the Onde State eXPense he. Anxil

Force, and on July 8th, 1839, the ng was 1nformed that he s
relieved from the cost of maintaining the Auxiliary Force, w
the British Government had taken upon itself.””* ;

Mr. Kaye, in the first volume of his excellent History
of the Sepoy War, puts forth, once more, the official version
of these transacUons, and calls the Treat of 1837 “a
abortion.” He also mentions that the followi tu
was made to Parliament under the signature of the Secre-
tary to the Board of Control :— ;

“There has been no Trenty concluded with the present
of Oude which has been ratified by the Conrt of Directors

the approbation of the Commissioners for the affairs of India
“India Board, July 8rd, 1838,  (Signed) -R. D

It must have been on the strength of this de
f()l'tlﬁed by some overstated verbal information, ¢l
uis of Lansdowne made his erroneous s
Tk (nil rport of the Return—true, so &r _‘
¥ 1o mesm&amoxmts to a declaration ths m
Whmhxtdmnotname,umﬂi and void ; 7
tained such a declaration, could it have




hat “the Court gf Directors,” in consideration of
“embarrassments which might be occasioned to the
te of Oude by the annual payment of sixteen lakhs o{
rupees to the support of the military force,” had empo :
the Governor-General “to relieve the State of Oude from
all that is onerous in the conditions respecting this force.”*®
‘This notification, that the King was relieved by the Court
of Directors from some of the conditions, is eq\nvalent to
 a confirmation by the Court of‘l)xrecwr&-of the remainin
. conditions, had any such confirmation been required.
- immemorial custom, and innumerable precedents, and the
terms of this pammﬂar Treaty, do not give a hint or show
a trace of the necessity for such confirmation. The Gover-
« " ‘nor-General had at least the powers of a Plenipotentiary.
' He had full power to condmfo Treaties, and the final ex- :
- change of ratified copies made the Treaty binding upon
. both parties
i Sir Charles Jackson says:—“The Court of Directors re-
fused to ratify this Treaty.”t They were never _asked or
cted to do so. They have never ratified any
the six Volumes of Treaties published by authority
- at Calcutta in 1864, there is not one Treaty hearing.
 the yatification of the Court of Directars. This Treaty of
37 18 attested in.exactly the same style as all the pre-
ceding Treaties with the Government of Oude :—
Ratified by the Governor General of India in Council, at Fort
n in Bengal, this eighteenth day of September, 4 Qne Thou-
Eight Hundred an?llql'hn-ty Seven.
e (Signed) W. H. MacxacaTEN, '
Secretary to the Government of India, ”t i
Esm:ntheca.se, which clearly did not oceur, of a timely
1 v actwn of thm Treaty by the Court of ‘




dersbe fnll ca.madout. Buttherem n
Papers o 1858 to show that they adhered toﬁmr 1
resolution after Lord Auckland’s last remonstrance.
latest paper in that part of the collection is the Gov
(General’s letter to the Secret Committee dated July
1839, in which he forwards copies of his letter, of
1dun to the King of Oude, apprising him sun 1
being relieved from the mlhtar) (haxggs rece: o

Lord Dalhousie’s Minute of the 14th / August 1854, con- |
taining a précis of the correspondence in this matter, lsio
uuﬂu‘tun.tte]y arranged that no one could gather from it
that Lord Auckland’s letter of the 15th July, 1839, for-
\\'udmg a copy of his letter to the King, was later in datcf
than any of the other documents quoted, and a year later
than the supposed “pledge” in the House of Lords. He
has thrown it back, without any date, to a place in his
narrative immcdiatelv after the Secret Committee’s first
letter of disapproval, dated April 10th, 1838. Then, on
the top of these, he piles extracts from the despatches of
the Secret Committee down to 11th July, ]839 in order
to prove that they “ did not recede from t ese sentiments,”
—thus couve _that '
disapproved of the letter to the King of Oude, which
had not seen when those dispatches were written, ¢
which was never disapproved at all.

Lord Dalhousie vainly endeavours also to ‘show
Lord Auckland knew the treaty was null and veid.

“In ursuance of the discretion thus left to him,
General'in Council intimated to the King of Onc
ment Of‘ '—-‘ 3 ”%M%_TW bat i m he

AUTOqaAion of e ¢




' alron qtfm
e ‘mentions the Court’s dlsappmval and the public d
~ ration in Parliament, as constituting “a situation of much
ﬁﬁmltv." but far faxn consldenng the Dxrectom orders
“as final and irrevoeable, he determines again to b this
. “question of such extended and ’mwl wnterest, in all its
: -bwnngs under the deliberate rveview of the Iome Autho-
rities.”* His Council coincided with him. Mr. Robert-
son, in a 'Minute dated 9th January, 1839, is «
to hope that by a relaxation of the terms of the exuisting
Tmty with Oude, the authorities in England may be
reconciled to a measure which cannot now be cancelled
wenvithout the most sersous inconvenience.”t General Morni-
son, on the 28th January, 1839, writes :—* Notwithstand-
ing the public avowal made in England of dissatisfaction
with the Treaty of September 1837, I would yet main-
tain its provisions, in the hope tlzat the orders for abandon-
ing the Treaty may be vevoked.”§
How then could Lord Dalhousie persuade himself that
the Governor-General in Council at this time “&
the full abrogation of the entire document”? He was
~exerting himself to the utmost to uphold it; and four
~months later, although another adverse dnspa.tch had
~ &rrived in the interval, Lord Auckland professes “ his un-
altered ‘adherence to the principles on which the Treaty
of September 1837 was o y negotiated,” and
“leaves the case for the further divections, qf the l.’
ﬂoﬂmmcm ”§ ¥

¢




As it was now i uny longer
~ the Oude Government that it z'as rehevd i
iary burden, Lord Auckland i ¢
Fecter of the 8th Jul_y“,‘_ 839, to the King of O
letter was fOud ha r'(ih soha;l to avoid sugges
the King o e that he might hope to escape f
lmblbtysto the direct management of his country
which the new Treaty provided. It was written enti
in the spirit of that art of Lord A'uckland’s last
on the subject, dated 2nd May, 1839,—tp which 5o 1 "
had then been received from the Court of Directors
which he refers to the unanimous support of the Member
of Council “ in regard to_the second branch of the Tr
that which provides for the a.ssumptwn of the admin
tion as a remedy for gross misrule.”t 5
How Lord Auckland’s letter and enclosure of the
July, 1839, were treated by the Home Authontla, we
have no means of learning from the printed Pa
their comments were quite condemnatory, I k we
should have found them among the Papers of 1858. No
condemnation behind the scenes, however, could, as al-
ready shown, have cancelled the Treaty. If, on the other
hand, the receipt of the despatch and the co py of %
letter to the King, was a.cknowl with a snnple
pression of approval, or was silently passed over m
lleuu(\;a.l of their adverse orders, then the proce
the Government of India were,—expressly or
d])&;] oved and confirmed. : i
5 rom no mentwt:h mademal!; :fa Lord D
inutes or es of an Court o
tors, to Inrg?uckhnd yreply y > ha



‘PF
they did or chd not, the notion of the ;
been annulled or made of no effect, by
of their confidential strictures, is utterly vain a.n&'_
‘totally inadmissible. '
Loul Broughton, who as Sir John Cam Hobhouse had
been President of the Board of Control when the Treaty
- of 1837 was concluded, when the supposed pledges were
. given in the House of Lords, and when the Return cited
* by Mr. Kaye was made to Parliament,* gives his testi-
‘mony in the following words :—* My impression certainly
is that the Treaty of 1837 was ratified by Government at
" home, after the disallowance referred to: the whole Treaty
“*“Svas not dxsa;llowed but only one portion of it.”t
No one in India, at Lucknow, or at Calcutta, ever
the validity and bmdmg force of this Treaty,
until Lord Dalhnume found that it stood in the way of
s scheme of appropriating all the revenues of Oude.
. Bir Henry Lawrence, writing in the Calcutta Review in
1845, describes the couolnslon of the Treaty of 1837,
ohserves that the Court of Directors “ very properly dis-
wved” of the measure by which the King was to have
" been saddled with the expense of an Auxiliary Force, and
that, in reliance on his Majesty’s good intentions, “Govern-
en’ ow;';;looked the, f _migmanagement still | existing
of Oude, an did. not act onaie permission given
_new Treazy ”$ And he adds subsequently Ny
can deny that we are now authorised by Treaty to as-
sume the ent.”§
: al Sir William leeman,whowasforsnxyeamRa-
> at Lunknogv alludes in two letters written in 1852
4, to the ”_conferred by “the
1 ue Book of 1856 wntmm an




Treatyafl 7 confers u
And in a long Memomndnmofadm, :
addressed L‘miHardmgetotheng*éf

his Lordshxp distinctly orce
of the Tr
Lord Dalhousie, in the 1st, 18th, and 71st

of his principal Minute on the Oude question, 5 to
the solemn warning offered to the King by his immediate
predecessor, Lord %Iardmge in 184/,—that if the abu

of his Majesty’s administration were not reformed
would force the British Gov ernmernt to m;erfere by a
ing the government, of Oude,”} but he nowhere gi
slichtest hint that this Wamnrr and this threat were
apon the Treaty of 1837,

Even in his later Minute of January 15th, 1856, althongh
lie anticipated the probability of great “embarrassment,
if the King should appeal to the ty of 1837, and de-
sired the Resident to “meet it full in the face” byd
that Treaty null and void, he does not seem to have con=
templated the greatest possible embarrassment of all, that
of the King producing Lord Hardinge’s recognition of that
Treaty.§ '§he Duke of Argyll, adhering to his avow
principles of political criticism, —following Lord 1sie,
and viewing the facts in the light in which his friend stated
them,||— relates Lord Hardmges warning, but knows
nothing of his threat to enforce the Treaty of 1837.
Charles Jackson says that Lord Hardinge “cited the
of 1837 as if it were still in force,”** but seems to
this quite an insignificant circumstance, deservmg no
ment and calling for no explanation. ‘

Yet Lord Hardinge's citation was full and
not to doubt. He quotas the wh&‘!&
the %’@ G Or--&




oe's plan was precisely that recommended
bleema.n and Lawrence, which
Duke of Argyll has entirely misunderstood. It was
the same plan that Lord VVﬂham Bentinck proposed, and
as anthorised by the Court of Directors to undertake,—

that of temporary management, with a view. to_effectusl
‘reform.of the native. mmm,wns.,md:

- ration.of
mntmck, in his Report of 11th July, 1 831

says besar
¢+ “T thonght itaight to declare to his Majesty, that the opinion
...J.shoujd offer to the Home Authorities would be that, unless a de-
cided reform in the administration should take place, there wonld
" beno remedy left except in the direct assumption of the manage-
&[ ment of the Oude territories by the British Gevernment.”
- “It may be asked of me,—and when you have assumed the
- management, how is it to be conducted, and how long retained ?
1 should answer, that acting in the character of guardian and
_ trustee, we onght to framg an administration entirely native,—an
ﬂlmmstmtxon so composed as to individuals, and so established
~upon the best principles, revenue und judicial, as should best serve
: mnnedmte improvement, and as a model for future imitation :
1e pean part of it should be the functionary by whom
sbaufd be supemntended and it should only be retained till a
‘ rgform might be brought about, and a guarantee for its
nce obtained, either in the improved character of %’hb'
Pnnco or, 1f incorrigible, in the substitutionfof his mi'vz-‘
g heir, or in default of such substitute from nonage or in
city, by the nomination of one of the family as t,
he -_themvemmbemgpmdmtotheOndetzmury | B

in his Memorandum of 1847, remn&
g of Lord William 1§enmncks oonferencesmth




eople wzthout settmg tbe 8OVer aut
ghaglgmg the native institutions o?%hne State.
an example of what had been done, and a pl
disinterested objects, he adduces the precedent of

“The Nagpore State, after having been restored to oratr !
British administration of the land revenue, is now i
under native management, with due regs.rd to the rights of

Prince, and the contentment of the peop! ”1- i
“1f European a encishotﬂd be requxred m Z'be first m.shn:a

in assisting your Majesf¥’s officers in making & just settlem
and in the next for securing the conditions made, by e
visits throughout the districts to check abuses by
quiries, such assistance will be aﬁ'ordcd by the British Govm-
ment, with your Ma_]estv concurrence.’

During the first six years of the vice-royalty of
Hardinge’s successor, Lord Dalhousie, the two successivy
Residents at Lucknow, Colonel Richmond and Colonel
(afterwards General Sir William) Sleeman, looked in . vain
to Calcutta for guidance and support in carrying out pro- pro-
jects of reform.

Whatever may be said in the published Papers as to
“admonitions” and ““remonstrances,” it is a positive fact
that no _plan for improving the thistrati do
was ever countenanced. Some extensive reforms proj
in concert by the native Minister and the British Re
at Lucknow, Colonel Richmond, and approved by
Thomason, Lieutenant-Governor of Agra, whoeo
i\:c'as asked 1& 1868 were I‘bsolutel di
eated by the Calcutta orelgn
leib.ns dad not want to nge

the " ATLC 1 1)
ﬁﬁcic;%hve eﬁy et 1 upon
vmmwmmdhni&

OIag i¥
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sthioht linve beeﬂ msll mm&ed
m\e had been any gsﬁ%“""”

ﬂie separate
ce of that friendly and faithful State. But there
' no such wish. : :

Sir William Sleeman incessautly urged decisive agtion,

~at first recommending that all the authority and influence

~ of the British Government should be used to promote the

* formation of a strong native administration; and latterl

 advising that the Treaty of 1837 should be ope enforcedy. ‘
During the year 1849, just as the two years of probation
allowed by Lord Hardinge were expired, he forwarded
to the Governor-General his plan for a Board of Regency,
undertook to direct and superintend their operations with

- oue additional Assistant and three clerks, and pledged his
great reputation for the success of the experiment.

“Things would go on like marriage bells.* The judicial courts
wonld be well conducted while the presiding officers felt secure in
their tenure of office.”—* The police would soon become efficient
under the supervision and control of respectable revenne officers.”
“Qude ought to be, and would be nnder such a system a garden ;
the soil is the finest in India, so are the men ; and there is no
want of 4n educated class for civil ffice : on the contrary, the
abound almost as much as the class of soldiers.”+— The Board,
! com of the first members of the Lucknow aristocracy, would
- be, 1 think, both popular and efficient ; and with the aid of a few
% the ablest of the native judicial and recenue ofiicers of our own
ricts, iuwited to Oude by the prospect of higher pay and secus o
ity in the tenure of office, would soon have at work a machinery
_ capable of securing to all their rights, and enforcing from all their
duties, in every part of thiz at present distracted country. We
“should soon have good roads throughout the Kingdom ; and both . |
- they and the rivers would soon be as secure as in our own pro- |
. winces. 1 think, too, that 1 might venture to promise thnr“i
- would be effected without violence or disturbance ; all would see
- that everything was done for the benefit of an oppressed people,

d in good faith towards the reigning family.”{—“1 think the
consent without much difficulty or reluctance to del
powers to a Regency, but 1 am somewhat afraid that |
j  being composed of members of
resay, be able to get over this diffcul




of our G:Jemment is an honest and bensvbieut one. ”M:
mentioned in my private letter to Sir H. M. Elliot, three §
of high character for the Regeney. Two of them are 'bmmm
\tho ing’s father. ~ The third, and best, may be considered as in

all respects the first man in Oude. Mohsm ood-Dowlah is
grandson of King Ghazee-ood-Deen ; his wife is the sister of the
King’s father ; and his only son has been lately united in’ m‘rﬂn#

to the present. King’s danghter. He and his wife have hrg!r
hereditary incomes, under the guaranty of our Government, and
his character for good sense, prudence and integrity,
higher, I believe, than that of any other man in Oude.”t

“ The members of such a Bozm{ as I propose, invested with ﬁtﬂ
powers, and secured in office under our gnaranty during good con- -
duct, would go fearlessly to work.”{

«1 should persuade the members to draw from the élife of t'beu-
own creed in our service to aid in forming and carrﬂng out the
new system in their several departments. We can give them ex-
cellent men i the revenue and judicial branches.§—“The whole
family are most anxious that the King should resign the reins
into abler hands, and would, I feel assured, hail the arrangement
1 have proposed as a blessing to them and the country. All seems
ripe for the change, and I hope the Governor-General will consent
to its being proposed soon.” || |

Before September and October 1849, when these letters
were written to the Governor-General and the Forei
S‘ecretar) t_Jf_Lqua,nb had been c\nnexed all were b
engaged in organising the new Province. Sattara, the ﬁrs('.
taste of blood in the previous year, only whetted the
fessional appetite; it had now become insatiable. o
last idea likely to find favour at Calcutta was the recon-
struction of a Native State. NQQ@g,\_Lb ‘
done, or authorised to be dope, in consequence of
Sleeman’s repeated applications, continued up

His correspondence proves that he Iz

the u Emht intentions of those who rule @
last he wrote as follows In a private eﬂa%
“Lodmmemdlmi
ything Muomnhmkngmmdhmm
D \%m 3 4
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its revenues to ourselves, We can do this with honour to

our Government and benefit to the 'l})eople. To confiscate would

‘be dishonest and dishonourable. To annex would be to give the

‘people a Government almost.as_bad as their own, if we put our

screw upon them.”*

- There is a touch of respectful yet reproachful irony in
the following passage from what seems to have been his
last letter to Lord Dalhousie,—it is dated 11th September,
1854,—gravely reminding him that when now about to
Jeave the Residency, after representing the Government of
India at Lucknow for six_years, he wus still unfurnished
with instructions, still unaoquamted with the Governor-
General’s plans or wishes.

“ Proofstenough of bad government and neglected duties were
given in my Diary. The duty of remedying the evils, and carry-
mg out your Lordship’s views in Oude, whaterar they may Ue,
must now devolve on another.”+ S

Thus up to the period of Lord Dalhousie’s arrival in
India, no scheme had been proposed for the reform of
Oude except that of temporary management. Lord Dal-
housie’s immediate predecessor 1epedt,ed that same pro-
posal, and held out, as an extreme measure, the enforce-
ment_of the Treaty of 1837, under which all_surplus
revenues were to be paid into the local treaﬂm'y, existing
mstltuuons maintained, and the restoration of native
. government facilitated, with such modifications and im-

_ provements as might be considered advisable.}
Lord Dalhousie protested against. temps rm;y 6-
- ““ment ; insisted on _appropriating the surplus revenues for
" British urposes ; in order to secure these two_points, re-
pu@(qs _the Treaty of 1837, so recently invoked by his
predecessor ; and dgl;berately planned to bring about a

aeeneafmmecuon pillage @s & pretext, for sweeping
away ey % of native government. The Duke of
: e against “the ignorant injustice”
08 ‘mibetheannmhonofOudeto“m




prlIlClple was that 1f the Bntish
“the responsnblhty, the labour, anql the nsk, ~
structing and reforming a native State, it onght, o M
providing for the pensioned dynasty, for the admi ’
tion of the Province, and for its progressive improvement,”
to be allowed to appropriate the surplus revenue to Impe-
rial purﬁ)oses * The double delusion,—false morally,.and -
practically falsified,—that the. British . Government: vﬂ
not bound to interfere for-the reform of a protected 3.
unless the interference could be made financially proﬁta‘ble«.
to itself'; and that the conversion of protected States into
British Provinces would be financially profitable,—runs
through all the arguments for the successive annexations,
from Sattara to Oude. <l
No doubt Lord Dalhousie had persuaded himself that
the temporary management of Oude was not attainable,
and, if attainable, would not be effectual for permanent
reform.  With the fixed purpose of absolute acquisition
before him, he was very easily persuaded, and attacked
the plan of temporary management by arguments and -
illustrations of tmmpau ent futlhty He adduced the two 1
experiments of Hyderabad, under Sir Charles Metcalfe, -
and of Nagpore, under Sir Richard Jenkims, as instances of
the total failure of temporary management;t whereas, if

s

properly examined, they are seen to be instances of marked
success, checked only by the. sudden- relaxation g v

sequent neglect, for which our Government was solel
responsible.  After detailing the good results of the re-
fomung measures in the Hyderabad country, he says :-
‘But the arrangement was temporary : its fruits,
fore, were transitory mpomtmg ﬁe
the present Sove the rems of
than he set aside the system introduced b Sir
Metca.}fe lmdwmedev rything to revert




. CHAPTER V.
’ mm‘%em agement, really think that the same vast in-
. fluence would have been {;selessly or unjustly ti)]mt forth,
.~ to maintain British management, and pursue the incom-
lete reforms, at the commencement of the same Prince’s
 reign ?*® The promptitude with which the Government, of
 India in 1829 acceded to the request of the Nizam that
 the English Superintendents should be withdrawn from
- his districts, is, as I observed in a previous publication,
~ “Dbut one mstance of the utter indifference of the Caleutta
officials to the internal and independent reforms of a
Native Principality.” *

Another objection to temporary management seemed,
in Lord Dalhousie’s eyes, to_be final aug fatal. It was
provided in the Treaty of 1801 that the King's adminis-
tration should be “ carried on by his own officers.”+ Lord
Dalhousie professed to see in this provision of the Treat
““an insurmountable barrier to the employment of Britisﬁ
officers,”} without whose aid a thorough reformation was
im}i'll.)a;ﬁcab]e' .

is barrier to the employment of British officers, was
never, before Lord Dalhousie’s time, felt or supposed to
be insurmountable, or anything more than a difhiculty to
‘be overcome. Lord William Bentinck in 1831 was pre-
ed to enter on the task of reforming Oude, under the
ok giy‘_of 1801,§and the Court of Directors santtioned its
‘commencement.
. Colonel Low, the Resident at Lucknow, writes as fol-
- Jows to the Foreign Secretary at Caleutta, while the
~ Treaty of 1837 was under consideration -—* In the whole
- of the correspondénce, both from the Home authorities
~ and in this country, all parties seemed formerly to have
 agreed that nat&n_e,rufgof -the revenues of Oude
i &waﬁvmww ¢ British Government, beyond the
. expenses anaging the territory, if we should conceive
‘ rtake dts management by British

wegam'y crd ¥




Jon 0 the country b Bmtwh officers, for
the eryi f abuses tgt meted ™ ﬁic :
Lord ardinge in 1847, exhorting the King to
an improved system, without delay, so as to save
from the penalties of the Treaty of 1837 at the en
two years of probation, offered, as we have seen, tg
him_the services of English officers to superintend
good. work.+ :
Above all, at the very time when Lord ‘Dalhousie was
professing to see in the Treaty of 1801 *an insurmount:
able barrier” to the employment of British officers in the
administration of Oude, several Britush officers were actu-
ally so_employed,—appointed by the Governor-General
himself, and directed by the Resident, though paid by the -

s

Oude Government. “* After such a lamentable picture of
the internal Police of Oude,” writes Colonel Qutram, the
Resident, to Lord Dd}muqle, ‘it is satisfactory to turn
to the Frontier Police, the_only efficient_public establish-
ment maintained under the Oude Government ; but that
it is so efficiently maintained is to be attributed to its
being placed under British' officers_independent of the™
Durbar, and under the immediate control of the Resident.
The Oude Frontier Police was originally established in
January, 1845, to the extent of 500 Sepoys and 10
Lorsemen, which force was subsequently au ted
his present Majesty to the tutal strength of 750 Se}mjm?
and 150 horsemen.” He adds, it has been most
and.successjul 4

e same means w

ve made all.
y.efficient,  If there had
dlﬁmulty mthe terms of the Trea | '
*COn ld_have removed.it ;

alre; ysean that dlﬁ‘wulty
the Fronﬁer Polwe, and wha oped
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was one of Lord Dalhousie’s “sa'uplea»’ ﬂm B

of his “misgivings”; this was one of his

: He could not “compel the fulﬁlment

Treaty of 1801 by force of arms,” on account of  its pecu-

Jiar provisions.”*  But he had no dhjection to declare the

| Treaty null and void,—that is to say, to violate it him-

. self by thhdravxmg the troops stationed in Oude in

" accordance with that Treaty,—to abandon the country to*
anarchy and the capital to pillage, and to re-enter with a
large army, to dethrone the King and anneg ¢ his dominions.

Nor is it so difficult as might be supposed, to account for
these inconsistencies and contradictions. Lord Dalhousie
did_not wish to reform Oude ; it was his special policy to

anncx it. Ieform, whether enforced by the 'Ill)'eat} of
1801 or that of 1837, whether carried out by the Resident
and his Assistants with a native agency, or by a larger
number of British officers, would bave spoiled every chance
of annexing Oude. Therefore the Treaty .of 1837 was
re{gudmted therefore Sir William Sleeman’s proposals were
dly and silently received.

It was in obedience, as T said before, to a sort of ri.n-
ciple that Lord Dalhousie objected to rOJects of
and aimed steadily at annexation. 'Fh was

. made applicable by him not only to the case of Oude but,
to every case of a Native State that seemed to provoke
. ¥ nee, or to lie at his mercy. One of his avowed
_reasons for deciding to annex the Punjaub, after the re-
/bellion of 1849, instead of continuing to give the promised
“aid and assistance in the administration of the Lahore
~ BState during the minority of the Maharajah Dhuleep -
~ Bing,”t was that “we should have all the labour, all the
. anxiety, all the responsibility, which would attach to the
. territories if tbey ‘were actua.lly made our own ; while we
ahouldmtrwylhe ndmgbrmﬁaqucrm(f#




employmg, alwa - at ingonvenience,
th'. urpose, aadatthe end of the
ave to “hand over the-country wit
four lacks of rupees.”* )
And when in 1851 he was urged by GeneralJ S. F
the able and accomplished Resxdent. at Hydemhad,
all the weight of many years’ experience in that important
post. to undertake effoctual measures for reforming the
administration of the Nizam’s Dominions, Lord :
positively decliged. The Resident, had suggested -
policy “ on many recent occasions,”-—for the first tlme, as
we learn from another source, in February 1850,1 a year
before the Governor-General took any notice of it. General
Fraser pointed out that the asqurnment of several Provinces
for the payment of the Cuntmgent Force, demanded at
that time by our Government, would augment the Nizam’s
financial difficulties, and was a measure * providing for our
own interests only, not for those of the country at large,
cither as regards its Sov ereign or its inhabitants.”$ m
Dalhousie recorded his entire disapproval of the Resident'’s
policy. ~ “Tf,” he said, “ provision be made for carrying it
actively and practlmllv into operation, all the toil of @
laborious task, and oll its real responsibality, must ever fall
on the British agent, by whowm the native ministry is con-
trolled.  The agent, on his part, while he reaps no ad-
vantage from. his labours for _his own ;Stg‘e, must feel
himself to be without undivided authorit
It is true that Lord Dalhousie, on this ooea.slon,
nounced a general reprobation upon s ions smfu'
those made by General Fraser, declaring them to M
““in %00 many instances, not from sentiments of e
benevolence, bug from the promptings of ambmom
“Quis tulerit Gracchos de seditione querentes I
He advamedashmﬁmtandmnob)m




ty the fear that we should prooeed to ‘some m&;;‘

S What respect can we yto these scruples, these,
 tender mercies, when at this very time the Governor-
© General was engaged in extorting from the Nizam the-
- fear of the military power which he felt he coul

~ resist, the surrender of his fairest Provinces to Bntash
management ! In the very Minute containing these pre-
cious misgivings, the Resident is instructed to demand
the transfer of the Provinces, and “to gﬂt any remon-
strances or solicitations which his HighneSs may make for
another reference,” by declaring that the Govenuw—Gene—
mlb.“determmauon is fixed nrevocably.” If his High-
ness * should refuse eompliance, or s}muld fail to complete
the arrangements which are requisite,” the Resident will

.~ then state ““ whether he will require any troops, in addi~

tion to the Subsidiary and Contmgent Forces, for the
purpose of enforcing the determination that Las-been an-
nounc
Thus Lord Dalhousie’s scrupulosity prevented him from
using the enormous influence of the British Government
to introduce improvements into the Nizam's administra-
tion, ‘because what he called “a system of subversive
interference” was “unwelcome alike to people and to
Prince,” and because the Treaty declared his Highness to
- be “absolute.”} But at this very time he was endeavourin
-~ o mtroduce and eventually carried out, by menace a,ng
coercion, “‘a system of subversive interference” over one
of that Prince’s dominions. He would not employ
Judicious pressure for the benefit of the State and people
of Hy ; but he would use any amount of pressure
payment and security for a Jt questionable
balance of debt.§ He would not take effectual steps for
- correcting the administrative abuses of Oude, out of rega.ul
»ﬁtths‘“peaﬂnxgrovmms"ofa'freaty h\h_he :




oﬂalltxes mdnhhgﬁﬁons—by-&e- tl
our troops and Resident, with the certainty, as he belmved,
of insurrection and anarchy, and the consequently acquired
right of invasion and con 3uest

It is true that in the Oude case he would have &m
satisfied for the present with the exclusive administration
and entire possession of the revenues, after paying the
Klnﬂ'h snpend with the prospect of an early annexation
by Lapse, under the new Treaty rgstricting the M
sion to the lineal male descendants of the Prince act
on the throne.* But he evidently preferred his own plan,
and worked himself into the strange notion that it was
more in accordance with “ established law and custom,”
and less open to hostile eriticism, than “the more peremp—
tory course,” as he called it, favoured by his coll es, to
which he had, nevertheless, consented.  Even i eaﬂls
Minute, written after possession had been taken, he recurs
with regret to his original scheme, and * finds no weight
in the ('}uectxc)ns made to it.+

[n dealing with the alleged debt and disorganisation
of the Nizam’s Government, Lord Dalhousie’s aim and
object can be shewn to be identical with those which he
set before himself in the case of Oude. When repelli
General Fraser's suggestions that he should interpose as
Guide, Teacher, and Protector, he evidently looked for-
ward to some future opportunity of interposing as Dictator
and Master. He fixed his eyes on that same delightful
vision of disorder, bloodshed and anarchy in the dependent
State, inviting its total absorption, a vision which, eq
in both cases, would be dispelled for ever by « unwel
measures of reform. The follo
Da.lhousx s Minute on H dembaqlw‘ﬁau-a dataed May
1851, in he rapudw.tes General Fraser
showhm ovnmtmhmmdwmbesmthmﬂ&w




__of his

% 8o long as the alleged evils of h)l
re confi 3 within his own limits, and aﬁ‘act only lns own lubjod,l

ﬁw Government of 1 ndm must observe religiously the obhgahona

“of its own good faith.”
“1f, indeed, the c»ﬂ"v(t of his Highness’s misgovemment should

- Dbe felt beyond his own bounds ; if the safety of our 1:err1bm;;v should

be placed in doubt, or the interests of our subjects in jeopardy
v« oo if TecEnt insults to British subjects and soldiers within his
nghness territory should occur with increasing frequency, I
shall not be satisfied, as on some past occasions, with the punish-
ment of individual oﬂ"enders 1 shall probably feel myself called
upon in such case to require the adoption of such stronger mea-
sures as shall effectually put a stop to outrages which, unless they
are repressed, cannot fail to lower the estimation in which our
power is held by hunve States, and in some degree to tarnish
the honour of our name.’

“Jt may be that every effort we can make will be iusufficient to
avert the crash whicl the recklessness and apathy and obstinacy of .
the Nizam are all tending to produee ; it may be that the Govern-

ent of India may, after all, be compelled to that direct interference

jfz his Highness’s affairs which it still most carnestly desires to
avoid. If ever that time should come, the officer who may then
be entrusted with the charge of the Indian Empire, will doubtless
be prepared to act as the circnmstances of the times, and as his
duty to his country may seem to him to require. But he will
then be enabled to act with confidence, strengthened by the con-
sciousness that the Government of India has long laboured to the
utmost, though in vain, to avert from the Nizam !l«c Jate which will
then have overtaken lmn e
~_ There can be little doubt as to what that fate was in-
tended to be, and would have been, if anything like the
 crash” had occurred while Lord Dalhousie pre-
over India. Nor can any one fail to see that Lord
Dalhousws special policy towards the Nizam—in spite of
all the intolerable verbiage with which, as usual, he wrapped
it up,—was simply that of his giving his Hi hness “ rope
enough.” Just as he declared the “ consent” of the King
of Oude to be “i le to the transfer of an
y,... and that he was enti ‘
administration by “his own officers,” the
o v.of 1801 fo Fviop ¢




S}é{éﬁ;g;a{ogor #onpe&h}flginm Jvasexa.l ed into* an
independent Power,™t “a ,” and exempt by Treaty
f'mmpﬁninberference in his internal aﬂ'airs.-"x.r‘:lp :!Zd these
scruples arose, with regard to Hyderabad, while he was en~

deavouring to depfive the Nizam of a large portion of his y
dominions. It is quite clear that he would gx)'ce no “um-
welcomg measure of reform” upon either of those States,
when such measures were suggested by Sir William Slee-

man and General Fraser, because he did not wish for their-
reform, but rather for some catastm'phe that might leadto

their fall or screen their extirpation.

The Duke of Argyll completely misconceives the poli

of those who, like Lord William Bentinck, Lord Hardinge,
Sir Henry Lawrence, and Sir William Sleeman, were op-
posed to annexation but bent upon reform. He endeavours
to show that their doctrines were quite as arbitrary as
those approved by him, less consistent and less efficacious
—amounting, in his words, to “annexation without the
avowal of the name.”§ The acquisitive process of his school
requiring, as we have seen, that all Treaties should, by
hook or by crook—inverted commas or fabricated lapse—
be annihilated, he completely overlooks the vast power of
interference and supervision placed in our hands g; these
Treaties, which, if firmly exercised in good time, could

have prevented or.cured all misgovernment without des-

troying the Native State. Lord Dalhousie, in arder to
shake off the obligations of guidance and protection, dearly
bought by the dependent ?rincipality of Oude, declared
the Tr;g_a r of 1837 to be an_abortion, and paty ¢

1801 to have been violated,q.mi ;uade mllL 3 V lﬂﬁ
the King’s misrule. Sir Henry Lawrence and Sir Wi

Sleeman upheld both_those.
e e



“‘that the Rulers of Oudelml gn |
count of which we were hound not o tm!'fmwﬁh

: -authonh/ is scouted by Sir H Lawrence with
nation.”™ Of course that nntlonwas uted by Sir Hen
Lawrence, who ru.ogmsed the ty . .of. 1837
wished to see it brought into o n. Even under the
Treaty of 1801 we were entitled to interfere with the
I\mg~ authority, since he was bound by Article VI, “al-
ways te advise with and act in cou/urnntz/ to the counsel of
the Honourable Company's officers.”t This was quite suffi-
cient warrant for the effectual reformation of Oude, if we
had determined to undertake it. Sir Henry Lawrence’s
indignation was directed against our neglect and delay in
ﬁx.lﬁﬂmg our bounden duty. He certainly recognised the
sovereign rights of the Rulers of Oude. but not as rights
of irresponstble and uncontrollable despotism. On the con-
ﬁo saw that the sovereignty and authority of the

ng were most eﬁ'ectuallv and benefic dally controlled and
limited by the Treaties, if we only chose to apply them
properly.
ir Henry Lawrence recommended that if the personal
reformation of a Prince were rendered hopeless by a “career
. of vice and contumacy,” he should “ be set aside and. re-
' %d by the nearest of kin who gives better promise.”
passage seems to shock the Duke terribly : it implies,
~ according to him, * that the British Government has abso-
i "luhe power, not only over the administration, but over the
. suceession to the throne of Native States” ‘And who
- doubts that absolute power ! Does the Duke of Argyll
: doubt i? Certn.m]y do not. * The consciousness of our
bqyom tfyfogxgllaeth Duk: Bpe&kl ottﬁm g
om' ,” of Wi e e in another
nf his Essay,§ has undoubtedly weighed more or less ul;.g

allEnglmhmmcngnged the government of India, as it
» his Grace. \Hemqumquhtsoﬁr We cannot

m*&mﬁbﬂm Hﬂmg by»




evenapalwerev ation is allowe thboutourm
rence. Time and circumstances have, in fact, reaervedfw .
us the revolutionary power as an Imperial

and we must not he?:lt:;ie to use it on an emergency

often recurring pro —never, I believe, msolubk

is how to usemg; with discretion and xmpama.htv, wbot{; 2
we interfere to settle a disputed or doubtful mheutance,-dr

to depose a contumacious or incompetent Prince. Noques-
tion of this sort-should ever be declded no irrev 3
step taken, without consulting those most conversant with

local affairs, those most near]y interested in the welfare of ™
the reigning family, and the stability of the commonwealth.
There is no reason why anyone holding the opinions of
Sir Henry Lawrence or Sir William Sleeman, should shrink
from altering a succession, or deposing a reigning Sove-
reign. The deposmon of a King, however rare an inci-
dent, is not always to be stigmatised as revolutionary, or
even as irregular. A Sovereign’s abdication is seldom the -
result of his own free will. But there is nothmg in it re-
pugnant to the constitutional law of any country. Indeed
the voluntary or forced abdication of a reigning ce, the
renunciation or exclusion of an heir apparent, have been,;
and obviously must be sometimes, essential conditions of
prosperity and success under a monarchical form of govern-
ment.  And such a necessity is more likely to arise, the
more the nature of the Government approaches a despotism,
the more it depends for its working on the personal cha-
racter and abxﬁfxee of the Sovereign. ik,
‘The misrule of Oude was.so to call fo
wtervention. General Sleeman thought the Kin,
be removed from the throne on accountof menta al incapa

esty is hy

S




. “No part of the people of Oude are more anxious for the inter.
*_position of our Government than the members of the royal family.
“ % % % The King is a crazy imbecile.”* ]

Sir Henry Lawrence had arrived at the same opinion.
There was a crying necessity for the King’s removal. In
consequence of our military protection and acknowledged
supremacy, this could only be performed by our hands.

It is at this point that the views of Lord Dalhousie and
the Dvge of Argyll on the one hand, and those of Sir Wil-
liam Sleeman and Sir.Henry Lawrence on the other, com-
pletely diver%e. Alliare agreed that an incompetent Prince
18 the great obstacle to good government. All are agreed
that his removal is necessary. They differ as to the ob-
ject and effect of his removal. The school of annexation
would sweep away with the King the whole fahric of local
self-government, dismiss the whole tribe of native digni-
taries and superior officials, and replace them by English
gentlemen. The reforming school would maintain all ex-
1sting arrangements as far as possible intact ; would intro-
duce very few English officers; and even if the King's
executive power were to be entirely suspended for a time,
would uphold his sovereignty as the best pledge and safe-
guard for the separate integrity of the State and the ulti-
mate reconstruction of a purely native administration.

The Treaty of 1837, under which Sir Henry Lawrence
and Sir William Sleeman proposed to act, expressly pro-
mised ““to maintain, with sucﬁ improvements as they may
admit of, the native institutions and forms of administra-
tion within the assumed territories, so as to facilitate the

- restoration of those territories to the Sovereign of Oude,
when the proper period for such restoration shall arrive.”t

Lord William tinck in 1831 proposed to form “an
administration entirely native, the only Europea.n part of
which should be the functionary by whom it should be

In 1847 Lord Hardinge assured the King that the




Sir Henry Lawrence atmbntes ﬂle m
Oude in a great mee,sure to that
any recogmsed szstem of policy in our

the Lucknow Ugurﬁ that ever

-

wark and exp_e;nment and there was na
harmony between the King, the Minister, and the
dent. -*Our great, error,” he says, “has been our int
ference in trifles, while we stood aloof when important
questions were at issue.”*  “This interference has been more
in favour of men than of measures. g .

“If an able Minister was appointed or encoui‘a.ged by the |
British Government, he was, as a matter’of eourse, snspected and:
thwarted by his master ; if the King did happen to emio anc %
honest servant, the power of the latter was null unless he n.g the

lesident’s sapport.”’f

“ Among her Ministers have been as able individuals as are
usnally to be found in the East.””§

“The result is before our evcs, the remedy is also in our
hands. Let the management be assumed under some such rules
as those which were laid down by Lord W. Bentinck. Let the
administration of the country, as far as possible, be native. Let
not a rupee come into the Company’s coffers.” ||

In the explanation of his plan he provided for only five
English Superintendents, under the Resident “as Minister;
not only in fact but in name.”§| g .

“Qur plan involves the employment of every present Oude offi-
cial, wilng to remain, and able to perform the duties that wonl&»
be reqmred of him.” i

“It would be desirable to retain the services of one or two .
respectable men, fo assist the Resident, and form with him a W
of Appeal from the Superintendent’s decraes 2% :

Nor did he ever deviate from these opinions. Five
after: the annexation of the Punjaub, in J 8
wrote as follows, in a private letter to Mr. m

“ Our remedy for gross misgovernment was y
on OudemtheOakuttaEwwwmmymssgé, Mﬁ_\
a.gemeuif hmimmly or permunenﬂy W : &




CHAPTER V.  ~

,»r" Abeve a.]l it is worthy of remark that Sir Hem'y Law-
m-—ﬂomeretheonst butoneof theablest administrators

" in India, who would willing!y have undertaken the task

- hewas then sketching out,—proposed that the assessment

" of the land-tax should be fixed for the whole country, and'
 distributed among the five districts, “as far as posgible
by the people themselves,”—in a great assembly of the

le."*

Sir Willlam Sleeman declared that in Oude there was

‘no want of an educated class for civil office ; on the con-
trary they abound almost as much as the class of soldiers.”t
By their means, * with the aid of a few of the ablest of
the native judicial and revenue officers of onr own (hatnc*ts
invited to Oude by the prospect of higher pay,”} he in-
tended %o carry out his projects of reform, if Lord Dal-
housi¢ would have sanctioned and suppor ted them.

The administrative abuses of Oude and the demoralisa-
tion of all its establishments were greatly aggravated
during the six years of Lord Dalhousie's ma,stcrlg neglect,
which, following immediately on Lord Hardinge’s two
years of probatmn seemed to hold out a prolonged lease

of power to the vile advisers of an imbecile King. Before
Sir William Sleeman left Lucknow, he had become con-
®vinced that the correction of abuses and inauguration of
_a mew system were no longer within the capacity of a
~ Board of Regency, and that stronger measures must be
taken. “ Our Government,” he wrote on the 5th March,
1854, to Colonel Low.§ who as Resident had negotiated
the Trea.ty of 1837, “would be fully anthorised at any
time to enforce the penalty prescribed-in-your Treaty. of
1837, and it incurs great odium and obloquy for not en-*
% He found that he would require the aid of
 some officers. He wrote to Lo Dalhousie, “1
- shall not propose any don:gve gentlemen for ttl:)d
offices,” ~—-mmnmg,\no t, those ongmnlly in
the Board —*“but m wdl be i




civil, and fiscal, be kept mtnrey separa.te fmzn t.haw.

our own Government, he. ng

He declared that “ b - ad t.mg a sunple system of admi-
nistration, to meet the wishes of a simple peo ple, we should
secure the_ goodwill of all classes of society.”t An&a
his last letter to Lord Dalliousie, he saxc{ ;
many honest men at Lucknow. But no honest man’gﬁ
obtain or retain office under Governnent with the preaenﬁ
Minister and heads of departments.”} b
Yet the Duke of Argyll declares that Sir William Sleq-
m(ms p]an was “annexatmn without the avowal of the =
name”;§ and that to Sir Henry Lawrence’s plan *“some
name harsher than annexation,” ought to be applied.|
On another point the Duke completelv misunderstands,
and consequently misrepresents, Sir William Sleeman a.nd
Sir Henry Lawrence. He says, *“they had a st
theory that though the King had no mdefeasxble tltle to
any art of the limg] y power, he had an’indefeasible title
to the whole of the Kiugly revenues,—that the whole -
revenue om and above the costs of administration was
absolutely due to the King of Oude: that is to say, i °
was legitimate to seize th(, Government in the interests
of the people, but it was not legitimate to administer for
the benefit of the people the revenues of the State.”§
And he complains that, ac(mrd.mg to their doctrine, “the
whole surplus was to go where it had gone before—to be
spent onr}l)x Pa.gea.nts and buffooneries and dancing-girls
of Lucknow !"*
This is a ve %great mistake, Neither Sir Henr
rence nor Sir William Sleeman ever pro i

surplus revenue should be
them%ﬁﬁded that the K Lingy
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. after defraying he et chita o administration, should
~ be handed over to the ngE;Ié:e Duke quotes a sentence
ﬁ‘um Sir Henry Lawrence’ y on 0113 —* Let not a
» rupee come into the Company’s coffers.” * Sir He
- Lawrence’s real meaning will be easily understood when
the sentence is restored to its place between two other short
sentences not quoted by the Duke of Argyll. The whole
passage will then stand as follows :— Let the administra-
tion of the country, as far as poa.szble be native. Let not
a rupeé come into the Company’s coffers. Let Oude be
at last governed, not for one man,—the King,—but for
ham ang his people,”t—that is to say, for the State of
.Oude. In another place he says, “We have not been
guiltless : in repenting of the past, let us look honestly
to the future. For once let us remember the people, the
gentles, the wnobles, the royal family: and not legislate
merely for the ng P+
It 1s strange that the Duke of Ary ¢yll should have also.
completely misunderstood Sir William Sleeman. “We
have a right,” the latter said, *“ under the Treaty of 1837,
to take the management of Oude, but not to appropriate
its revenues to ourselves. § As late as ertem*)er 1852,
fie tried, but in vain, to sound Lord Dalhousie on this
‘very point.
+ “T believe that it is your Lordship’s wish that the whole of the
__revengies of Ounde should be expended for the benefit of the royal
Mly and people of Oude, and that the British Government -
~#hould disclaim any wish to derive any pecuniary advantages from
‘assuming to itself the administration.”||
“ Were we to take advantage of the oceasion to aunex or con-
~ Jfiscate Onde or any part of it, our good name in India would i in- g

; and that good na name is more valuable to us than "
of Oudes.
or confiscation is not compatible wmhﬁunmhmﬂ
e %‘Sm ng must show ourselves i
© taking advantage of its .pMﬂm%,
‘revenues exclusively to the benefit of the




did not sa that it shouki be paid
Purse. - Nor can “the King’s Trewuty
Article VIIT of the Treaty of 1837, be held bo
King’s Privy Purse. The distinction between
Treasuries is quite well understood all over Indla
wherever it has been imperfectly observed in p
could be established by our influence in any Native
on the first convenient opportunity. . Far from i
give all the surplus to_the King, or to growde him wrth ;‘{:r
the means of unlimited extravagance, Sir William Slee-
man suggested an annual sum for the Royal Household
of fifteen lakhs of rupees (£150,000),* three lakhs less
than that offered to the ng by Lord Dalhousie,—eighteen
lakhs (£180,000), besides one lakh (£10,000) to the Queen -
Mother.—on._condition of his signing.the draft treaty
of 1856.1

Sir Henry Lawrence, indeed roposed to give the King
a larger income. * Twenty, y, or even fifty lakhs -
per annum might, as the revenues increased, be allowed.
He should be furnished to his heart’s content with silver
sticks,”} and @ forth. The magnitude of the hi hest
sum here mentioned,—fifty lakhs, £500,000, more a
third of the gross revenue,—is sufficient to show that it
is not to be taken literally, but only to express forclbly
his opinion that if matters could be smoothed and £
fied by a liberal allowance to the King, the exact sum
ought to form no dlfhcultv in the settlement Sir =
Lawrence was merely writing an article i in the C’a.loutta. ;
Review, w1th no oﬁlclal responsibilit

his %g_.ggzmg esident, at Lucknow e
¢ “would certainly not have recommended a larger incoms
for the King than Sir William Sleeman did.

Thesetwodmuaﬂmhﬁ.ﬂﬂiwhadnowmktend
s “pageants and buffooneries.

plamed that in consequence of our
was ,'vmadfoommh“for ‘

-!"
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v C itimate to administer the reve-
nues of the State for the benefit of the people.”t That
~would have been “a strange theory” indeed:; but the
- Duke alone is responsible for its conception. Nothing of
- the sort can be found in the writings of Sir William Slee-
~ man or Sir Henry Lawrénce. They evinced no reluctance
to expend the revenues of Oude for the benefit of the

le. They sketchgd out schemes of roads “and _other
pub;l)lc works that would have transformed the face of the
country. Sir Henry Lawrence proposed to commence
opemtlons with a loan of a million sterling, to be paid off
in ten or fifteen years,} so that there would have been
Jittle or no surplus for anyone during that period.

But the Duke of hgvﬂ may still object that although
these two eminent men did not. perhaps, exactly intend
to throw all the surplus revenues into the King’s hands,—
“to be spent on the pageants, buffooneries, and da.mmxg—
girls ofgflzjlcknow "—they certainly intended that all the
revenues of Oude should be spent withifi its limits, that
the surplus_should not belong to the British Government
. of India. If his Grace had restrained his rhetoric withm
~ those bounds, his statement would have been perfectly
. accurate, and several pages of my rejoinder might have
. ‘been spared. When Sir %‘Iem'y Lawrence and Sir William
B ﬁhm?ﬁm st:d that “the administration should,.as far as
;am e natwe ; that “not_a_rupee” should * come
| the Company’s coﬁ‘ers that we had no right “to
S M]Q revenues to ourselves,” and that they
S xgnld be ?eu ded for the benefit_of the royal family *

f Oude,” they undoubtedly intended to ex-

&nde our Government from any claim upon the surplus
_revenues, and to restrain the nepotism of Caleutta within
mﬂamse bounds. Umﬂ the gro mania for territorial
arrived at vmg the fostenng care
o : \ImdDa.lhouue,atwas j_‘- iy




cessions, and

for Tu pennl%l n its
When the Treaty of 1837 was under considers
Articles imposing an annual burden of sixteen I
rupees upon Oude for a new Auxiliary Force, were oppc
upon these grounds by two members of the Suprem
Council, Mr. Ross and Mr. Shakespear. Both of

observed that in return for the great cession of tes
in 1801, we had declared in the 1st Artxcle of the '

uh.u.l;—wtrmy titne in prote
Qude.”  And,Mr. Shakespear added thatbc ore exacting
any new sulmdv it wnni)d be necessary o_cancel the.
sth Article” of the Treaty of 1801, “ which engages that
no demand whatever shall be made upon the territory of
his Excellency, on_account of expenses which the Honour-
able Company may incur for the suppression of disorders
within his territories.”t This was the main objection of
the Court of Directors to the Treaty of 1837. This was
the objection of Sir Henry Lawrence and Sir Wﬂha.m
Sleeman to the surplus revenues of Oude being appropri-
ated by the Honourable Company. On a mere debtor
and creditor account, as well as by innumerable and un-

remitting friendly services, the State of Oude had paid

u_l.gy_imm&-ﬁmﬂthe protection, guidance, and instruction
re. Against Oude we had no pecuniary claim.
Even Lord Auckland, when pressing his plan for a new

Auxiliary Force, felt himself compelled in common d.eesney :
to urge that it would be *‘ a measure of real economy for
Oude.} All our efforts for “the tranquillity and good
gnvemment of Oude, should be, he said, * without the

tamt which schemes of acquisition in money or la.nd mi
give them.” Any such scheme he declared to-

pugnant to my own designs and feelings as
ever been dxaavowed by the Honoumble ﬁm

-vm;m dthm
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EIMlxﬁﬁ,p.%?. § It is indeed mﬂ\in’n‘i‘

wards the Oude ruler and peo ie. v
Sir Barnes Peacock.t who was Member of Councﬂ

when the annexation of Oude was discussed, “could not
‘recommend that any part of the revenues of Oude should

be applied-to. thgm;me.nt of the military administration
of the Province.” After referrmg to the cessions and pro-
mises of 1801, he says:—For the same reason I would
not place the residue. of the revenue at the disposal of the
East India Com pany, “but would leave it to be dis

of entirely for tha henefit of the people of the Province.”}
“If the Honourable Court of Directors shquld resolve to
adopt that measure, 1 think that no pecunmrv benefit

. bhould be derived by the East India Company.”§

So that Sir Barnes Peacock. one of Lord Dalhousie’s
colleaguies, an acute and clear-headed lawyer, propounded |
that same theory which seems to the Duke of Argyll a
strange delusion when it comes from Sir Henry Lawreuce
and Sir William Sleeman. Yet Sir Barnes Peacock had
no great sympathy for the King of Oude. He speaks on
behalf of “ the people of that State. ‘il ‘

The source of the Duke of Arg)lls error is evident
enough. He can think of no people but the people of

all India. He can think of no “ State” but that which is

centralised at Caleutta. Like Lord Dalhousie and his
‘best contemporary interpreter, Mr. George Campbell, he

locks upon the revenue of a native Principality as a very

inconvenient alienation from the Imperial assets, to be
‘called into the common stock as soon as may be{[ He
cannot understand how_Oude mulihamaay ht-to-be-

o

& State at all The school of annexation has always

‘Mfamlmps 1)«owCh1chmticeofthenghCourt&t
Caleutta. T Qude Papers, 1856, p. 252, 10id. 1856, p.
—-byreyechng

heirs—* that we m lwpe gradually to extinguish native States,
the the
m»kg; qf mmcf Mﬁthe nopr:‘v:::




ism and revoluhonary violence, — gt
Prmoe, for the time being, is made t. ve -
d personal embodiment of the State. So Iang wh'
re-mams on the throne, his absolute power must not ;
limited, or he would have * “virtually no soverer.gn at
all ;"* he would be “in leading strings,” “‘a mere
and “a sham Sovereign."t He algne is respo
any disorder or misrule in his dominicns, whether injt
only to his own subjects, or affecting bix relations
the British Government. Whether he ‘be a c’mmnal or
an imbecile, he is fully empowered to transfer b 4
nature all his pussesswns and may justly zmd B@
terrified or coerced into doing so.” But with or wi
his extorted consent, the removal of the reigning Prmem
extinguishes the rights of his family, annuls all treaties,
and terminates the scparatc existence of the Principality,
which naturally and necessarily merges in the Paramount
Empire as an ordinary Province,

The Duke of Argyll, in common with the school of an-
nexation which he admires and defends, persists in
nothing but the King’s person between the British Govern-
ment and the desireg acquisition of territory. Sir William
Sleeman and Sir Henry Lawrence saw a great deal more.
With them the King was not the State. They knew
that Oude had, since the cessions of 1801, paid ur
military protection over and over again, not only by eon-
tributions and advances in the hour of our financial need,
not only by supplies and means of transport m S¢

campaigns, but hy the inestimabl d o ;
countenance_and faithful influe

ta y.

vices had not been ren eredbytbengalom'
had been indebted as much ormore,mympoaﬁm
respective importance and bili to the
ST e i i B




“exhorted our Government to “ remember,” They knew
that many persons belonging to these classes had been m ;
@test sutg:rexs_ from our n I_eg_t, our exclusive attention
fo our own immediaté interests, and, when those were
~ secured, our uniform support of the King’s personal autho-
rity throughout his own dominions.* They knew that
these classes—the most sensitive, the most reflective, the
best informed, the most influential. and the raost improv-
able members of the community,—-although anxious for
our corrective intervention, would see their own inevitable
ruin and degradation in the extinction of the Kingdom.
Hear Sir William Sleeman in 1853,
“In 1801, when the Oude territory was divided, and half taken
by us and half left to Oude, the landed aristocracy of each was
« about equal. Now, hardly a family of this class remains in our
Balf, while in Oucde it remains pnimpaired.  Evervbody in Oade
believes those families to have been systematically crushed.”+
“ The members of the landed aristocracy of Oude always speak
with respect of the administration in our territories, but gencrally
end with remarking on the cost and vncertainty o the law in
civil cases, and the gradual decay, under its operation, of all the
ancient families. A less and less proportion of the annual produce
of their lands is left to them in our periodical settlements of the
land revenue.”’
There was not in Oude even such a semblance of a party
in favour of British appropriation, as there was in Mexico
~in favour of the unfortunate Emperor Maximilian. Every
one supposed—whether rightly or wrongly it matters not,
~—that after absorption within the Honourable Company’s
territories, all avenues to promotion and distinetion would
be closed, that the manufacture and import of man
“articles of ornament and luxury_would be very muci
 diminished, that all encouragement to native art and
- learning would cease, and that the wealth of the country
“would be drained away to Calcutta and London. Even~
~ the “pageants and buffooneries of Lucknow,” did not
. excite much horror in the minds of this ignorant popula-
Such sights ate run after by the simple inhabitants
m eagerly as the more serious and i
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LordMa s mmeullghteuadw

oplemyo:el} aware of their Prince’s lavish expend ,
{mttheyaremtherproudofmthanothm Thé
money is spent among themselves, and they all benefit by
it, more or less, if only by a little occasional entertain-
ment and hexcltement Ati General Sir John Low re-
marked, when dxscusmng e question of the stxpendﬁi
be allotted to the Ex-King of q()ude “these Princes” di
not * hoard up. their money in large sums, and. bm:y:_h,
nor do they “dispose of their , as most E .
gentlemen do Vi’ltf their thousands, that is to say, save’
more than they expend, and send their savings off toa
distant countrv" o 3

Nor was the aversion to lose all their local prxnleges
and customs amid the cold uniformity of British rule, eon-
tined to the great landlords, the courtiers and the hlgher
officials, the traders and artisans of the capital and large |
towns. There was literally no class in the country that
desired the ¢ dojmfallnﬂl.he native State.

“Tt might have been expected,” said Lord Canning, i
his d(‘h})dtcll of the 17th June, 1858, “that when insur-
rection first arose in Oude, &nd before it had grown to a
formidable head, the village occupants who had been so
highly favoured hv the British Government, and in Justwe
to whom it had initiated a a policy distasteful to the most -
powerful class in the province, would have come forward
i support of the Government. Such, however, was not g
the case. So far as I am as yet informed, pot an_indivi-
dpal dar mﬂle,(im.emment which had
fnended lum T tsas-a body,
b ectlon to _j,haEalookdur" or
Imdlm:d., medz.nd obeyed his authority as if
been their lawful Suzerain, and joined the ra

WJ&H@;%& Bﬁhﬂh
The endeavour to neutralize -
abuaedpowarnfthe'l‘aloohdaxs ecogNisit
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‘of reviving them they had ggt_gc_l in complete subordina-

~tion to the Talookdars, and had been no less forward than
' these latter in their efforts to subvert the authority of
that Government and expel its officers.”*
The village occupants knew much more of the British
revenue system than Lord (‘annmg imagined. They per-
fectly umierst(»od that the * ‘supposed proprietary right”
enjoyed by the villagers of our adjacent districts, was
nothing more than the right to pay their quota directly
to the Government instead of to the Talookdar. The
“ knewquite well that any intermediate profit-rent Whlbi
was lost by the Talookdar would be no gain to them, but
would fall into the coffers of Government; while they
would lose the protection and countenance of their here-
ditary Chief, and would be transferred to the covenanted
and uncovenanted mercies of a Collector and his under-
lings. They knew that in the neighbouring British dis-
~ tricts the assessment of the land tax had been systema-

_tically and progressively enhaneed, and that the ryots, for
~ want of substantial and influential landlords, were exposed
ta the illicit exactions of subardinate officials.

@ 7. The gﬂeged revalence of oppression and extortion in

fhide is utterly irreconcileable with the fact that the

i showed no inclination to emigrate. into the-con-

ous territories of the Company, dpen to them on three

+ The mal-administration of Oude_did not drive

ths..pooph_m_:lehelhgn, nor eveu.toremonstrance. Whe

-~ King was utte mcompet.ent, wgupl The t

 fault of his Gmg;'mn «bﬂi-lﬂikng&




